IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-01995-COA

MARY LEWIS

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 1ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER, HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI William R. LaBarre, MSB PUBLIC DEFENDER Gian C. Barnett, MSB No. Virginia L. Watkins, MSB Assistant Public Defenders Post Office Box 23029 Jackson, Mississippi 39225 Telephone: 601-948-2683 Facsimile: 601-948-2687

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN TRIAL COURT

Mary Lewis was arrested and indicted for the June 23, 2007 shooting of Arthur Lee Patterson by a grand jury of the First Judicial District of Hinds County Mississippi in the September 2007 term, Cause No. 07-1-113, for violation of MISS.CODE ANN. § 97-3-19(1) (1972). CP 3.

The cause of Ms. Lewis came on for trial before a jury of her peers on October 7, 2008 and on October 9, 2008, the jury found her guilty. CP 42; RE 4; T. 398. Upon conviction, the trial court sentenced her to life imprisonment in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. CP 41; RE 5; T. 399.

Upon the filing and prosecution of post-trial motions, all of which were denied, Ms. Lewis sought appeal of her conviction and sentence, now before this honorable Court for review. CP 43-51; RE 6.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mary Lee Lewis and Arthur Patterson had been living together ten years or more by the time their relationship bloomed into a violent confrontation that left Arthur Patterson dead of a gunshot wound. T. 175.

Around 11 to 11:30 P.M. the night of June 22, 2007, Ms. Lewis, caring for the baby of her niece, took the Cadillac the couple shared to ride the infant and calm her, according to her statement to police, admitted into evidence and read aloud to the jury by investigating Detective Christopher Watkins. T. 171 - 173; *Exhibit 2* [Statement of Mary Lewis] The car seems to have been titled in the name of Patterson, but Ms. Lewis said in her statement both she and Patterson paid for the vehicle and both used it. T. 175. Apparently, Patterson had placed some time limit on the use by Ms. Lewis of the Cadillac and as Ms. Lewis said, she "stayed out past my limit"

until Saturday. T. 171. That morning, June 23, 2007, Patterson set out hunting for Ms. Lewis in a white Oldsmobile 88 which belonged to his mother. T. 171; 268. Ms. Lewis admitted she should have returned home with the car, but did not and was driving down Eminence Row when Patterson, driving the Oldsmobile spotted her and blocked her way. T. 172; 256; 264. Another relative, identified in the statement of Ms. Lewis and elsewhere solely as Kurt or Lookum Up, blocked Ms. Lewis from behind. T. 175; 256.

Patterson got out of his car and threw a beer bottle through the car window, smashing it, "screaming, hollering" at Ms. Lewis, known by the nickname of "Black." Witnesses Bernice Henry and Robia Womack clearly testified that Patterson was hitting the seated Ms. Lewis with his fists. According to her statement, Patterson said "Bitch, get out the car, and I told him, this is our car. We share everything. I was trying to pull off, and then I stopped the car." Ms. Lewis told police in her statement that a .22 caliber pistol rolled from beneath the driver's seat as she braked to avoid hitting Patterson in the Oldsmobile. "I grabbed it and started shooting." Patterson had tried to grab her from the car; the car door was open. *Exhibit 2*.

After she realized she shot Patterson, Ms. Lewis turned the car around and headed back down Eminence Row; she said in her statement that she told Patterson's companion, Johnny Hawkins, to call 911. *Exhibit 2*. Ms. Lewis said she went over to where Patterson had fallen on the south side of Eminence Row and checked his pulse, "and I thought he was going to be all right." Ms. Lewis then left the scene in the Cadillac and as she did so, threw the gun in the grass, according to her statement. Ms. Lewis went to the home of her aunt, married to Roy Fleming, on Erie Street. Ms. Lewis said in her statement that she told Fleming "I think I killed somebody" and sought Fleming's permission to park the Cadillac there. Ms. Lewis then summoned her brother and sister to Fleming's home; her brother James told her later on Saturday that Patterson died. She accompanied her brother to his home that night and the next morning, Jackson police

were waiting outside to take her down to police headquarters for questioning. Ms. Lewis told police in a question-and-answer section of her statement that she shot Patterson accidentally. In response to police questions, Ms. Lewis stated she was too "confused" and "panicked" to call law enforcement officers after the shooting. T. 174-176.

Predictably, testimony from others who witnessed some or all of the events differed. Virtually all, however, described a physical confrontation initiated by Patterson, who stood six feet and weighed 180 lbs, against Lewis, including smashing the Cadillac car window with a bottle. T. 207.

Police interviewed only two witnesses, Johnny Hawkins and Parker Young, on the day of the shooting, although Young did not testify. T. 135

Hawkins, who is visually impaired but not totally blind, testified he was riding with his friend, Patterson, as they normally did on Saturday mornings in an Oldsmobile. T. 266; 267. Their purpose that morning, however, was to find Ms. Lewis in the Cadillac. T. 281. Hawkins, and his companion, Colette Robinson, lived next door to Patterson and Ms. Lewis on Beaverbrook Drive in Jackson; Hawkins described Patterson as "like a brother to me." T. 267; 283.

When Patterson met Ms. Lewis that morning on Eminence Row, he parked the car across the street trying to block her in from going anywhere," according to the statement Hawkins gave to police. T. 277. Hawkins also acknowledged he told police that Patterson opened Ms. Lewis's driver side door and tried to reach in for the keys but Ms. Lewis put the window up. Hawkins was also forced to admit on cross-examination that he did not tell police Ms. Lewis closed the door after Patterson opened it, trying to retrieve his keys from her. T. 279-280. Hawkins testified that after she got the window up, Ms. Lewis fired twice through the car window, hitting Patterson, who ran to the south side of Eminence Row and fell down. T. 271; 279. It was

Hawkins who telephoned for an ambulance and police; and Hawkins who had someone move the white Oldsmobile out of the street since he is unable to drive. T. 274.

Bernice Henry was present that morning, but gave no statement to police until August 7, more than two months after the shooting. T. 248. Ms. Henry was stopped at the intersection of Sears Street and Eminence Row at a Stop sign and saw two cars stopped in front of Morrison Elementary School on Eminence Row, as the cars were blocking the Cadillac. T. 239. Ms. Henry, who said she knew Patterson for years, saw that Patterson was "tussling" with a woman, whom Ms. Henry could not see or identify. T. 243. Ms. Henry testified she heard a shot, saw Patterson move away from the Cadillac, stumble across the street and fall. T. 243. Ms. Henry testified she was unable to see if anyone broke glass in the windows of the Cadillac, but she also told the jury she saw nothing in the hands of Patterson. T. 246.

Robia Womack, who described Patterson as one of her best friends, testified that she was on her way to purchase more beer and first saw Patterson come down Eminence Row as did Ms. Lewis. T. 253. Patterson blocked Ms. Lewis's path from the front with his Oldsmobile across Eminence Row, while "Kurt" blocked her from behind. T. 256; 258; 264. Ms. Lewis tried to leave; Kurt left his vehicle and warned Ms. Lewis not to hit his car. T. 258.

Patterson then got out of the Oldsmobile and hit Ms. Lewis with his fist once or twice, Womack testified. T. 258; 265. Patterson tried to reach in to take the keys; Ms. Lewis tried to get the windows up. T.259; 260. While Patterson held onto the windows, Womack testified Ms. Lewis shot twice hitting Patterson both times, despite testimony from pathologist Steven Hayne that Patterson suffered only one gunshot. T.260; 202. Womack also insisted that she was the only one who summoned an ambulance and police to the scene. T. 260. Womack further testified that Ms. Lewis drove away then came back to the scene and that Ms. Lewis did not initially realize "that she had hurt that bad or whatever." T. 265.

Patterson died from extensive internal bleeding due to the one abdominal gunshot he sustained, according to Dr. Steven Hayne. T. 204. Upon autopsy, Hayne removed a bullet, which was later found to be consistent with those fired by a .22 caliber pistol. T. 234; *Exhibit 5*.

Det. Christopher Watkins testified he was the lead detective on the case and interviewed Parker Young before going out to the scene on the day of the shooting. T. 155-157. There, Watkins saw what appeared to be broken car window glass on the side of the street on Eminence Row, about ten (10) feet from the intersection with Sears street. Watkins testified he personally took no samples of the glass, but did not notice any colored glass such as might be from a beer bottle, although he admitted on cross-examination if the beer bottle did not break it would not be among the glass shards he observed on the roadside. T. 186. Also, apparently Watkins is unaware that some beer beverages, as are other beverages, are sold and consumed in clear glass bottles. Watkins was also forced to admit that he did not feel it was important to compare the class later collected from the roadside to make sure it came from the Cadillac Ms. Lewis was driving. T. 189-190. Crime scene investigator Eneke Williams testified that she collected samples of glass from the roadside which appeared to be auto safety glass, designed to resist shattering. T. 217. Williams also testified she took samples of glass from inside the car, but could not say where in the car she collected the glass fragments. T. 225. [need to make point somewhere here that some beer bottles are clear, aren't they? Like some Schlitz bottles? And some are green?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ms. Lewis asserts two errors which she believes require reversal of this cause. The first error concerns not only the denial of manslaughter instructions, but the sufficiency of the evidence adduced at trial and the trial court's failure to use to the appropriate standard in consideration of jury instructions sought by the accused.

Counsel for Ms. Lewis argues that there was plentiful evidence to support the giving of manslaughter instructions, based on testimony that Patterson was striking her with his fists and that he had the car she was driving completely blocked in. The trial court did not use the proper legal standard in reviewing her jury instructions which requires the court to view the evidence in a light most favorable to the accused, among other criteria. Ms. Lewis also challenges the sufficiency of the evidence, contending it does not rise to the level required to support a verdict of deliberate design murder. On the contrary, Ms. Lewis believes case law supports her argument that this case is ripe for application of the "direct remand" rule, whereby this Court may remand for re-sentencing for the crime of manslaughter due to the insufficiency of the evidence.

Ms. Lewis alleges it was fatal prejudice for the prosecution to fail to timely supplement discovery with notice to defense counsel of significant changes in the testimony of Roy Fleming. The trial court abused its discretion, resulting in manifest injustice to Ms. Lewis, by failing to declare a mistrial upon the request of Ms. Lewis.

Finally, Ms. Lewis challenges the admission of testimony of Colette Robinson as it was clearly biased and incredible, not produced until six weeks *after* the shooting and far more prejudicial than probative.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court not only erred when it refused to permit the jury to consider the defense of manslaughter, as the evidence was insufficient to sustain a conviction for murder, the trial court compounded its error as it failed to use the proper legal standard in evaluating the request for jury instructions on manslaughter and

Not only did the trial court err in refusing the request of Ms. Lewis for Instructions D-7; D-10; D-13 regarding the lesser included offense of manslaughter, the judge also failed to use the proper legal standard in consideration of the instructions proffered by Ms. Lewis. T. 355-356; RE 10-12; CP 33; 35; 36; 38.

The United States Supreme Court bars imposition of the death penalty so long as the jury has not had the opportunity to consider a lesser included offense or lesser offense, if there is any supporting evidence for the lesser crime. *Beck v. Alabama*, 447 U.S. 625 (1980). And while the Supreme Court has stopped just shy of declaring that it is a denial of due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution to reject lesser included offense instructions in non-capital cases, "it is nevertheless clear that a construction" precluding jury consideration of lesser included offenses "would raise difficult Constitutional questions." *Keeble v. United States*, 412 U.S. 205, 208 (1973) (reversing conviction for assault with intent to commit serious bodily injury due to trial court's refusal to permit jury to consider lesser included offense of simple assault). *See also Stevenson v. United States*, 162 U.S. 313, 315 (1896) (Reversible error to refuse request for jury instruction as to manslaughter; "so long as there was some evidence relevant to the issue of manslaughter, the credibility and force of such evidence must be for the jury, and cannot be matter of law for the decision of the court." *Id.*).

In *Mease v. State*, 539 So.2d 1324 (Miss. 1989), the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed the capital murder conviction of Bart Mease for the shooting of Marshall County Sheriff Osborne Bell for refusal of the trial court to instruct the jury as to the lesser offense of manslaughter.

Evidence was admitted, however, showing that Mease could have fired reflexively due to his drug intoxication and not acted deliberately to shoot the sheriff. A lesser, non-included offense instruction must be given when "there is evidentiary support that a defendant is guilty of a lesser charge arising from the same nucleus of operative fact," noting that the principle evolved at common law when plainly, the accused had committed some crime. *Id*.

Jury instructions are to be read together and taken as a whole with no one instruction taken out of context," the Court wrote in *Heidel v. State*, 587 So.2d 835, 842 (Miss. 1991). "A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions which present his theory of the case; however, this entitlement is limited in that the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is fairly covered elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in evidence." *Id*.

In considering the request of a party for jury instructions, binding Mississippi precedent requires the trial court to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused, considering in the defendant's favor all favorable inferences flowing therefrom and considering also that the jury may not be required to believe *any* of the State's evidence. *Fairchild v. State*, 459 So.2d 793, 801 (Miss. 1984), citing *Ruffin v. State*, 444 So.2d 839, 840 (Miss. 1984). When in doubt about giving an instruction, the trial court is to resolve any such doubts in favor of the accused. *Wadford v. State*, 385 So.2d 951 (Miss. 1980). Lesser offense or lesser-included offense instructions should be refused *only* when, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant, the evidence could justify nothing other than conviction on the principal charge. *Hester v. State*, 602 So.2d 869, 872-873 (Miss. 1992).

In refusing the proffered jury instructions on manslaughter, the trial judge said the submitted defense jury instructions on self-defense and manslaughter were "inconsistent defenses." T. 355.

Mississippi case law, however, gives the defendant that right. "Even though based on meager evidence and highly unlikely, a defendant is entitled to have *every* legal defense he asserts to be submitted as a factual issue for determination by the jury under proper instruction of the court." *Hester*, 602 So.2d at 872.

"Litigants in all cases are entitled to assert alternative theories, even inconsistent alternative theories," the Mississippi Supreme Court wrote in *Love v. State*, 441 So.2d 1353, 1356 (Miss. 1983). "This is no less true of defendants in criminal prosecutions." (conviction for possession of marijuana reversed in part due to refusal of trial judge to permit independent chemical analysis of substance purporting to be marijuana as a denial of due process under Miss. Const., art. 3, § 14). In the case of *Russell v. State*, 729 So.2d 781 (Miss. 1997), the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed this Court's reversal of a murder conviction due to failure to instruct the jury as to two, seemingly 'inconsistent' theories of defense, those of manslaughter and insanity. With an evidentiary showing that is "meager, highly unlikely," Russell, who suffered from a brain tumor when he killed his estranged wife, met the requirements of *Hester* and its progeny to present both defenses and let the jury, the finder of fact, decide.

Ms. Lewis acknowledges no "imperfect self defense" instruction was offered, as recognized in *Lanier v. State*, 684 So.2d 93, 97 (Miss. 1996). "The imperfect self-defense theory is: "that [the defendant] killed the deceased without malice, under the bona fide belief, but without reasonable cause therefor, that it was necessary for him so to do in order to prevent the appellant from inflicting death or great bodily harm upon him;...." *Cook v. State*, 467 So.2d 203, 207 (Miss.1985) (quoting *Williams v. State*, 127 Miss. 851, 854, 90 So. 705, 706 (1921)). *Id.* Nonetheless, the Court is aware of the evidence showing Patterson was striking Ms. Lewis with his fists, after having spent the morning hunting for her throughout the Jackson metropolitan area, according to the testimony of Johnny Hawkins. T.268. Both Robia Womack and Bernice

Henry testified as to the fact that Patterson, standing outside the car, was beating her with his fists; Ms. Lewis could not escape as Patterson had orchestrated hemming her in from both the front and the rear. T. 241; 264-265. The gun was Patterson's gun, which slid from beneath the seat of the car he habitually used when Ms. Lewis braked to avoid hitting the Oldsmobile. *Exhibit 2.*

In such cases, this Court has the authority under the so-called "direct remand rule" of *Shields v. State*, 722 So.2d 584, 585 (¶ 7) (1998) to find that the evidence insufficient to support a verdict of deliberate design murder, but rising to the level of manslaughter. "In a series of cases, this Court has stated that when the jury convicts of a greater offense, which is invalidated on appeal for want of sufficiency of the evidence, no new trial is required and the defendant may be remanded for sentencing upon the lesser included offense where the proof establishes proof of the lesser offense," wrote Justice Waller in *Shields*. The rule is "grounded on the fact that guilt of a true lesser included offense is implicitly found in the jury's verdict of guilt on the greater offense." *Id.* As this Court is well aware, an indictment for murder includes the lesser offense of manslaughter under MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-19(3) (1972).

As noted in the preceding analysis and viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, the state's witnesses clearly establish (1) that Arthur Patterson had spent the morning hunting for Ms. Lewis to retrieve the car he habitually used (2) that he had the car in which Ms. Lewis was riding completely cornered, so that she could not move and (3) he was hitting her with his fists, as she sat there unable to flee, blocked in as she was. It was only at this point that she fired the pistol at Patterson. Ms. Lewis would submit this is insufficient to rise to the level of deliberate design murder, which requires a degree of calculation and deliberation totally absent here.

Under *Wade v. State*, 748 So.2d 771, 773, (1999) Ms. Lewis submits that this Court has the authority on appeal to resort to the direct remand rule, finding the evidence insufficient to sustain a murder conviction and therefore, vacate her conviction and remand the case of Ms. Lewis for re-sentencing as manslaughter.

II. The trial court abused its discretion, resulting in manifest injustice, when it denied the request for mistrial upon revelation of the state's failure to comply with rules regarding reciprocal discovery as to statements by Roy Fleming, which inured to the fatal prejudice of Ms. Lewis.

Crucial to corroboration of the version of events contained in the statement of Ms. Lewis and her own state of mind at the time was the testimony of Roy Fleming, uncle by marriage to Ms. Lewis, who by the prosecutor's own admission, met with the State several times before trial. T.286; 315. Yet, nothing beyond the initial statement Fleming made to police June 24, 2007 was ever disclosed to counsel for Ms. Lewis. T. 317; 330; RE 9.

On direct examination by the prosecution, Fleming testified that Ms. Lewis came to the house and asked to leave the car there. Fleming testified he acquiesced; Ms. Lewis pulled the car in and Fleming left. T. 288. This corroborates the statement Ms. Lewis gave to police on June 24, 2007. *Exhibit 2*.

On cross-examination, however, Fleming was forced to acknowledge that his statement to police was that he did not know who brought the car to his home and further, that Fleming did not know to whom the Cadillac belonged. Fleming, admittedly a difficult witness, was forced to admit on cross-examination that he knew Ms. Lewis and was aware of to whom the Cadillac belonged. T. 2290-292.

Counsel for Ms. Lewis was also unaware of the fact that Fleming could corroborate that the brother and sister of Ms. Lewis came to the home of Fleming that Saturday after the shooting and that they talked to Ms. Lewis. T. 313; 333. Fleming also testified that Ms. Lewis looked

"strange like" as though something might have happened to her. T. 332-333. Given that the defense of Ms. Lewis that the shooting was accidental or, at most heat of passion manslaughter, information regarding her state of mind immediately after the incident was crucial for the jury in determining whether the requisite degree of malice or deliberation existed.

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