### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### MARY LEWIS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1995-COA

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

#### JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly denied Lewis's heat of passion manslaughter instruction because there is no evidence in the record to show that Lewis acted in a state of violent uncontrollable rage. Even defense counsel admitted that such evidence would have to be inferred. However, there must be an actual evidentiary basis for the granting of an instruction. An inference will not suffice.

Even if the State committed a technical discovery violation in failing to supplement discovery to show that Roy Fleming would testify that Lewis hid the victim's Cadillac at his house, Lewis can show no prejudice because Lewis admitted to such in her statement to police which was provided in discovery. Regarding Lewis's claim that the State committed a discovery violation in failing to notify defense counsel that Fleming would testify that Lewis looked strange when she was at his house or that Lewis's siblings came to talk to her at Fleming's house on the day of the murder, there is no evidence in the record to show that this information was within the State's knowledge. If this honorable Court finds otherwise, Lewis still fails to show prejudice. The aforementioned facts are wholly irrelevant to Lewis's several theories of the case.

Colette Robinson's testimony regarding Lewis's threat that she was going to kill Patterson the very night before she did just that goes directly toward an element of the crime. As such, the evidence was clearly more probative than prejudicial.

#### ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED LEWIS'S MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION DUE THE TO LACK OF AN EVIDENTIARY BASIS.

Although a defendant is entitled to an instruction which supports his or her theory of the case, that entitlement is limited to the granting of instructions which correctly state the law, are not fairly covered elsewhere, and which have an evidentiary basis. *Livingston v. State*, 943 So.2d 66, 71 (¶14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Lewis claims the trial court employed an incorrect legal standard in refusing her heat of passion manslaughter instruction. Although the trial court did mention that self-defense and manslaughter are inconsistent defenses when refusing instruction D-10, the trial court had also stated on the record that no evidentiary basis existed for the instruction because no evidence had been presented to show that Lewis was in a state of violent or uncontrollable rage when she murdered Patterson. T. 346, 354. Specifically, the trial court stated,

My problem is that the manslaughter charge there has to be evidence of a heightened emotional state of the defendant at the time the victim was killed. I'm not sure the record supports any evidence or the record contains any evidence that the defendant at the time of the incident was at a heightened state of emotion and passion.

T. 346. Even if the trial court denied the heat of passion manslaughter instruction in part on the erroneous belief that Lewis could not put forth inconsistent defenses, the trial court properly refused the instruction for lack of an evidentiary basis.

Heat of passion manslaughter is "the killing of a human being, without malice, in the heat of passion, but in a cruel or unusual manner, or by the use of a dangerous weapon, without authority of law, and not in necessary self-defense." Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-35. Our courts have further defined "heat of passion" as,

a state of violent and uncontrollable rage engendered by a blow or certain other provocation given, which will reduce a homicide from the grade of murder to that of manslaughter. Passion or anger suddenly aroused at the time by some immediate and reasonable provocation, by words or acts of one at the time. The term includes an emotional state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror.

*Livingston*, 943 So.2d 66 at 71 (¶15). In the present case, there was absolutely no evidence, as noted by the trial court, that Lewis was in a state of violent or uncontrollable rage or in an emotional state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror. In fact, even defense counsel acknowledged that terror or fear on Lewis's part would have to be inferred from the evidence. T. 349. In other words, defense counsel acknowledged that there was no record evidence to show that Lewis was in a state of violent or uncontrollable rage at the time she shot Patterson to death.

In *Turner v. State*, evidence was presented to show that Turner and the victim got in a shoving match, and that the victim pushed Turner over a table before Turner pulled a gun from his pants and shot the victim. 779 So. 2d 952, 953 ( $\P$ 2) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). The trial court refused Turner's heat of passion manslaughter instruction. In affirming, this Court noted that when a deadly weapon is used in a killing malice is implied. *Id.* at 954 ( $\P$ 7). "In order to overcome that implication, there must be some evidence in the record from which the jury could determine that the act was not the result of malice, but a result of the heat of passion." *Wilson v. State*, 574 So.2d 1324, 1336 (Miss. 1990). The *Turner* court acknowledged that there was provocation in the form of the victim pushing the defendant over the table, but stated, "we do not find that this by itself would support a finding of 'violent and uncontrollable rage' absent some testimony from someone that rage appeared to exist." *Id.* at ( $\P$ 8).

Similarly, in *Cooper v. State*, evidence was presented to show that Cooper and the victim were in a verbal confrontation which turned physical when the victim pushed and choked Cooper. 977 So.2d 1220, 1221 (¶4) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Immediately thereafter, Cooper shot the victim

to death. *Id.* Cooper's heat of passion manslaughter instruction was refused. In affirming the trial court's decision, this Court found that although there was provocation, "the record is void of any evidence that Cooper was in a state of violent and uncontrollable rage." *Id.* at 1223 (¶13).

Recently, in *Williams v. State*, the defendant presented evidence that an agitated victim struck him and tried to detain him in attempt to get more drugs from him. 12 So.3d 17, 19 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). Thinking that the victim was about to rob him, Williams then choked the victim to death. *Id.* This Court found that the trial court properly refused a heat of passion manslaughter instruction because there was no evidence in the record to show that Williams acted in a state of violent uncontrollable rage.

It is clear from *Turner*, *Cooper*, and *Williams*, that evidence of the defendant's violent uncontrollable rage required for the granting of a heat of passion manslaughter instruction cannot be inferred simply because the defendant was provoked by the victim. Instead, there must be evidence in the record to show that the defendant acted in the heat of passion. Because there is no evidence in the record to show that Lewis acted in a state of violent uncontrollable rage when she shot Patterson to death, the trial court properly refused her heat of passion manslaughter instruction.

# II. LEWIS SUFFERED NO PREJUDICE FROM THE ALLEGED DISCOVERY VIOLATION.

Roy Fleming, Lewis's uncle, gave a statement to police in which he claimed that when he arrived home on the night of the murder, Patterson's Cadillac was parked at his house. T. 164. He further claimed that he did not know who the vehicle belonged to or how it got there. T. 165. When he awoke Sunday and the vehicle was still parked at his house, he called the police to report the presence of the vehicle in his yard. T. 165. At trial, however, Fleming testified on direct that at around 10 a.m. on the morning of the murder, Lewis drove the vehicle to his house. T. 287. Consistent with his statement, he further testified that when the car was still at his house Sunday morning, he called the police. T. 289. Fleming testified that he did not talk to Lewis, who he hardly knew and had only met once before, when she arrived at his house, and he left shortly after she arrived. T. 285, 288-89. All Fleming knew was that she showed up and parked the car in his backyard, T. 289. On cross-examination, Fleming explained that he told the police he did not know who drove the car to his because he did not remember at the time. T. 290. When asked to explain how he remembers a year and a half later that Lewis drove the car to his house that morning, he explained, "When you drink, you forgets," and went on to say that he no longer drinks, so now he remembers. T. 291. Fleming admitted that he did not tell the police that he knew who owned the car or who drove it to his house because he did not want to get involved. T. 292-93.

On redirect, the following exchange between Fleming and the prosecutor occurred.

- Q. Mr. Fleming, you talked to me and Mr. Kesler about this just a couple of days ago, didn't you, and we told you you were going to have to come down here and testify?
- A. Uh-huh.
- Q. All right. Are you worried that you're going to get in trouble for all this?

- A. Uh-huh,
- Q. It's okay. You can tell us.
- A. Yeah.
- Q. Okay. And you were worried that by her leaving that car there you might be involved in this, and you might could get in trouble for it?
- A. Uh-huh.
- Q. Okay.

T. 293. At this point, defense counsel asked to approach the bench and expressed concern that the State had knowledge that Fleming knew more than he told authorities but failed to provide that information in discovery. T. 293. The State admitted that prior to trial Fleming admitted that he knew Mary was at his house with the car, but noted that that information was already in Lewis's statement to police which was provided in discovery. T. 295. After interviewing Fleming during a recess, defense counsel moved for a mistrial. T. 312. Defense counsel stated that during the recess Fleming admitted that not only had he seen Lewis at his house that Saturday, but also that Lewis's brother and sister came to his house to talk to Lewis, which corroborated part of Lewis's statement to police. T. 313-314. Defense counsel claimed that this new information "has a lot to do with her state of mind as to her flight or potential flight." T. 314. The trial court overruled the motion for mistrial because the defense already knew through Lewis's statement and Officer Crowley's testimony that Lewis hid the car at Fleming's house. T. 330-331. Nevertheless, the court recalled Fleming so that defense counsel could further cross-examine him about the "new" information.

This Court reviews a trial court's ruling pertaining to alleged discovery violations for abuse of discretion. *O'Neal v. State*, 977 So.2d 1252, 1254 ( $\P$ 10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). "Where a discovery violation results in the admission of evidence that is merely cumulative, the error is

harmless." *Id.* 1255 (¶13). If this honorable Court finds that the State committed a discovery violation in failing to inform defense counsel that Fleming admitted prior to trial that he knew Lewis was the one who left the car at his house, such error is harmless since this information was provided to defense counsel in Lewis's statement to police, and probably in a summary of Officer Crowley's proposed testimony.

Lewis also claims on appeal that the State failed to inform defense counsel that Lewis's siblings came to Fleming's house to talk to Lewis on the day of the murder and Fleming's observation that Lewis looked "strange like" when she was at his house. First, the record does not indicate that the State was in possession of this information. During argument, the prosecutor indicated only that he suspected that Fleming knew Mary brought the car to his house, and Fleming finally admitted to such prior to trial. Second, even if such information was within the State's knowledge and the State failed to supplement discovery, such error is harmless because no prejudice resulted. "A violation of Rule 9.04 is considered harmless error unless it affirmatively appears from the entire record that the violation caused a miscarriage of justice." *Gray v. State*, 931 So.2d 627, 630 (¶ 9) (Miss. Ct. App.2006). Lewis claims that the information was relevant to her state of mind after the shooting and "was crucial for the jury in determining whether the requisite degree of deliberation or malice existed." Appellant's Brief at 13. The appellant fails to explain how the fact that Lewis's siblings talked to her after the shooting or the fact that Lewis looked strange has any bearing whatsoever on Lewis's degree of culpability or any one of her inconsistent defenses.

Lewis's reliance on *Fulks v. State*, No. 2007-KA-01572 (Miss. July 23, 2009) is completely misplaced. In *Fulks*, a co-defendant gave a statement to police in which he claimed that he and Fulks had not participated a the robbery but merely sat in a car while other passengers planned and committed a robbery. *Id.* at (¶2). The day before trial, the State informed Fulks' counsel that the

co-defendant would testify that Fulks was essentially the ringleader of the robbery. *Id.* The supreme court held that the discovery violation and the trial court's failure to grant a continuance were reversible error because the discovery violation completely undercut the defendant's theory of the case. Such is not the case in the case *sub judice*, because the fact that Lewis's siblings showed up at Flemings house and the fact that Lewis looked strange after murdering her boyfriend are totally irrelevant to Lewis's numerous theories of the case.

For the foregoing reasons, even if this honorable Court finds that the State committed a discovery violation, such error is harmless because Lewis suffered no prejudice.

## III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT COLETTE ROBINSON'S TESTIMONY WAS MORE PROBATIVE THAN PREJUDICIAL.

Colette Robinson, Patterson and Lewis's next door neighbor, testified that the night before the murder, Lewis told her that she was going to kill Patterson. T. 321. Robinson stated that she did not think much of it at the time because she thought Lewis was just venting. T. 322. Prior to Robinson taking the stand, the trial court ruled that the testimony was more probative than prejudicial. T. 311.

When reviewing a trial court's determination that evidence is more probative than prejudicial, this Court must affirm unless the trial court has abused its discretion. *Gribble v. State*, 760 So. 2d 790, 793 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). This Court has previously noted that "the prejudicial effect that Rule 403 forces a court to weigh is only the unjustified harm to a party arising from evidence that might be given inappropriate weight or could otherwise pervert the fact-finding." *Anthony v. State*, 843 So.2d 51, 55 (¶21) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The *Anthony* court went on to state, "That the person charged with murder had only hours earlier threatened to kill the victim is clearly prejudicial to the defendant's chances for acquittal, but not prejudice in the sense of a skewing of the fact-finding." *Id.* at (¶22).

Evidence that Lewis threatened to kill Patterson the night before she murdered him was highly probative of her intent. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Robinson's testimony.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Lewis's conviction

and sentence.